IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1553

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 63-2002-CF-000028-A

D. TODD DOSS, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellant(s),

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. TODD DOSS Florida Bar No. 0910384 725 Southeast Baya Drive Suite 101 Lake City, Florida 32025-6092 Telephone: 386-755-9119 Facsimile: 386-755-3181

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's Order Dismissing Post-Conviction Proceeding and Discharging Post-Conviction Counsel and Directing the Court Reporter to Transcribe the June 30, 2011 Hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court for the Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Union County, Florida, entered the judgments of conviction and death sentence at issue.

On February 6, 2002, Mr. Gill was indicted by a Union County grand jury for the first degree murder of Orlando Rosello (R1. 1-2). Following a <u>Faretta</u> inquiry conducted on April 15, 2005, the Court ruled that Mr. Gill had waived his right to counsel and that he could represent himself in his proceedings (R1. 65-66).¹

On July 8, 2005, Mr. Gill changed his plea to guilty as charged (T19. 335-58). On that same date, Mr. Gill waived his right to a penalty phase jury (T19. 358-77). A penalty phase before the Court commenced on July 8,2005 (T19. 368-77). During that proceeding, the State presented five aggravating circumstances (T19. 379-93). Since Mr. Gill waived counsel and chose not to present mitigation, the prosecutor introduced evidence he deemed relevant to mitigation (T19. 393-401).

On June 30, 2006, the circuit court adjudged Mr. Gill guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder (T21. 462-89)(R4. 687-94; R5. 695-770).²

¹ Attorney Bill Salmon was appointed by the Court as stand-by counsel for Mr. Gill.

² The Court found the following aggravating circumstances: 1) Mr. Gill was under a sentence of imprisonment for a previous

On July 9, 2009, this Court affirmed Mr. Gill's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. <u>Gill v. State</u>, 14 So. 3d 946 (Fla. 2009). Three issues were raised on the direct appeal of Mr.

Gill's conviction and sentence: 1) The death sentence imposed in this case is disproportionate; 2) the trial court erred in finding as an aggravating circumstance that the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner; and 3) the trial court erred in sentencing Mr. Gill to death because Florida's capital sentencing procedures are unconstitutional under the sixth amendment pursuant to Ring v. Arizona.

In affirming Mr. Gill's death sentence, this Court rejected issue one, stating: "The trial court found that the three heavily weighted aggravators outweighed the statutory and nonstatutory mental mitigation in the case, justifying the sentence of death. We will not disturb this finding. Accordingly, based on the foregoing, we hold that the sentence of death is proportionate in this case." Gill, 14 So. 3d at 963.

murder at the time of the homicide; 2) Mr. Gill had been previously convicted of a capital felony; and 3) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (R5. 697-702). In mitigation, the Court found: 1) The homicide was committed while Mr. Gill was under extreme mental or emotional disturbance; 2) Mr. Gill's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the law was impaired; and 3) Mr. Gill suffered a brain malformation pressing on the amugdala which controls impulse behavior and rage (R5. 703-708). This Court also rejected issue two, finding that "[c]ompetent substantial evidence demonstrated that the murder of Orlando Rosello was clearly the result of a longstanding plan by Gill, who fashioned a murder weapon in advance and who had ample time to reflect on the proposed murder and abandon the plan, but did not-and the murder was carried out in a cold manner as a matter of course, without pretense of justification. <u>Id</u>. at 963. Finally, this Court rejected issue three on the basis that "Gill waived a sentencing jury in this case and, because his waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary, he therefore waived any to his sentencing based on *Ring*." Id. at 967.

Mr. Gill's now discharged counsel filed an incomplete Rule 3.851 motion in order to comply with the one year time limit in state court and to toll the time for filing Mr. Gill's federal habeas petition in accordance with the AEDPA.

Thereafter, the circuit court entered its Order Dismissing Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on February 21, 2011 for failure to meet the oath requirement of Rule 3.851(e)(1), Fla.R.Crim.P. This dismissal was without prejudice to file an amended motion by April 18, 2011 that included the required oath.

Undersigned counsel attempted to meet with Mr. Gill to obtain the required signature, thus providing the required oath to the Motion for Post-Conviction Relief. However, Mr. Gill refused to come out of his cell and meet with undersigned counsel and his investigator.

Undersigned counsel then filed a motion to extend the time for filing the amended motion and raised the issue of Mr. Gill's competency. The competency issue was raised as a result of Mr. Gill's erratic behavior throughout his post-conviction litigation. This behavior has included the sending of letters threatening the Court and the undersigned and the filing of numerous pro se pleadings attempting to dismiss the undersigned as counsel and represent himself. These events, coupled with information contained in privileged correspondence the undersigned counsel could not and cannot reveal, caused the undersigned to seriously question the competence of Mr. Gill.

As a result, the circuit court ordered Dr. Krop and Dr. Cooke to examine Mr. Gill for competency. Dr. Krop examined Mr. Gill on May 31, 2011 and filed his report finding him competent. Dr. Cooke attempted to evaluate Mr. Gill on June 7, 2011, however, Mr. Gill refused to see Dr. Cooke and the doctor subsequently filed his report declining to render an opinion.

The circuit court then conducted a hearing regarding Mr. Gill's competence to discharge counsel and waive his postconviction appeals on June 30, 2011. Prior to the hearing it was determined that Dr. Cooke would attempt to evaluate Mr. Gill before the start of the competency proceedings. Dr. Cooke evaluated Mr. Gill for approximately and hour and fifteen minutes and emerged to state that he believed Mr. Gill was competent. The trial court then took testimony from Dr. Cooke, Dr. Krop, and Mr. Gill.

The undersigned objected to Dr. Cooke being accepted as an expert in the circuit court below. PCT. 13. This objection was based upon Dr. Cooke's inexperience in this particular type of proceeding. Upon questioning by the undersigned, Dr. Cooke admitted that he had not testified in a capital post-conviction proceeding involving the discharge of counsel and waiver of post-conviction appeals. Further questioning revealed that Dr. Cooke did not have an understanding or knowledge of Florida post-conviction proceedings. PCT. 12-3. This dearth of knowledge disqualifies this doctor from being accepted as an expert in such vitally important proceedings.

Dr. Krop subsequently testified regarding the evaluation he performed on May 31, 2011. PCT. 28-42. Dr. Krop stated that at that time he conducted no testing of Mr. Gill and that he relied upon his prior testing in years past of Mr. Gill. PCT. 33-4.

Dr. Krop also testified on cross-examination that he had not reviewed any medical records or disciplinary records from the Florida Department of Corrections (DOC hereafter).³ PCT. 34.

³ Dr. Cooke had also not reviewed any medical records or disciplinary records from the Florida Department of Corrections.

Dr. Krop agreed that it would be possible that there could be information in these records that could possibly impact his opinion as he was always willing to revisit his opinion if new information was available. PCT. 36-7. Dr. Krop acknowledged that he was aware that Mr. Gill had cranial surgery performed upon him since his last evaluation of Mr. Gill, however, he relied upon Mr. Gill's self-report that everything was fine and that he was not currently prescribed any medication. Dr. Krop admitted that he had no corroboration of this self-report either from record documentation or discussions with DOC officials. PCT. 34-5.

During the hearing undersigned counsel moved the Court to order the release of Mr. Gill's medical and disciplinary records from DOC. The undersigned related how he had reviewed Mr. Gill's records from the Florida Department of Corrections and believed they contained information that is relevant to the proceedings. Undersigned counsel also explained to the Court that he was unable to provide these records to the doctors because after Mr. Gill had signed a release for the records and they were obtained from DOC, Mr. Gill revoked his release. The undersigned therefore requested the Court order the release of the records and stay the proceedings until the doctors had the opportunity to review those records. The circuit court declined to do so and the undersigned again moved the circuit court to order the release of Mr. Gill's DOC records and order the doctors to review them and render a competency determination thereafter. PCT. 43-4.

Dr. Krop recounted in his evaluation report and testimony that Mr. Gill stated that his desire to waive his postconviction appeals in order to obtain a visit with his parents. Reportedly, this desire is so strong that Mr. Gill stated to Dr. Krop that if he could see his parents they could kill him the next day. Dr. Krop acknowledged that death row inmates can visit with parents, unless they have misbehaved and lost their visiting privileges. Additionally, Dr. Krop acknowledged that in his extensive experience of testifying in death cases that a prisoner under death watch is not guaranteed visitation with family if they are a behavior problem. PCT. 38-9.

Dr. Krop also testified and stated in his report that Mr. Gill had recounted how he had earned his way off of Q-wing and that this wing is utilized for inmates that have behavioral and/or psychiatric issues. Mr. Gill then reportedly had a parental visit scheduled, but the visit was then cancelled after he was caught making alcohol and he was returned to Q-wing after trying to stab an officer through his cell gate. PCT 35.

Mr. Gill did indicate, however, that he tried to stab an officer through his cell gate. This in addition to the previous acknowledgment that his inability or unwillingness to control his behavior costs him his visiting privileges. Mr. Gill's erratic behavior is obvious.

Mr. Gill indicated as well to Dr. Krop that he had moved to have the undersigned removed from the above-captioned case. His main complaint appeared to be a lack of contact, although Mr. Gill stated he had refused all visits from undersigned counsel except the first one, had revoked the releases for medical record and files, and had called his mother and father to instruct them to not cooperate with undersigned counsel. Mr. Gill clearly has continued his history of being uncooperative with counsel and discharging them, both in this case and the prior murder case in Alachua County. PCT. 40-2.

Unfortunately, Dr. Krop never specifically discussed the legal issues and procedures facing Mr. Gill with him. For instance, the doctor never even discussed the concept of Florida capital post-conviction procedures with Mr. Gill or the issue of procedural bar with him and there has not been any indication of a rational understanding of those legal concepts by Mr. Gill. Nor has there been any discussion during the psychiatric evaluations that Mr. Gill would be waiving his ability to proceed in federal habeas as well, much less any indication of a rational understanding of that by Mr. Gill.

Subsequent to the hearing the circuit court considered the testimony at the hearing and the post-hearing memorandum's filed

by the parties and entered an order discharging undersigned counsel and permitting Mr. Gill to waive his post-conviction proceedings. However, subsequent to the hearing, yet prior to the circuit court's ruling, Mr. Gill wrote a letter motion the day after the hearing to request his appellate proceedings continue, but undersigned counsel be discharged and another attorney appointed for his post-conviction proceedings. PCR. 196, 209. The trial court denied the letter motion in its Order Striking *Pro Se* Motion to Continue Proceedings, citing <u>Trease v.</u> <u>State</u>, 41 So.3d 119, 126 (Fla. 2010)("a change of mind is insufficient to set aside a prior valid waiver"). PCR. 205.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court should not have rendered a decision on Mr. Gill's competency due to incomplete evaluations by the doctors. Based upon the current record on appeal, a finding of incompetency must be rendered. Rules 3.851(g)(8)(B)(ii) & (iii), Fl.R.Cr.P. direct a court to consider, "the prisoner's ability to disclose to collateral counsel facts pertinent to the postconviction proceeding at issue, and any other factors considered relevant by the experts and the court . . ." Mr. Gill has consistently operated with a level of mistrust and paranoia that prevents him from rationally communicating with counsel, listening to advice, and then operating based upon a consideration of that advice. These facts cut to the essence and heart of an attorney-client relationship and Mr. Gill is simply incapable of participating in such a relationship.

CLAIM I

A CONSTITUTIONALLY VALID PSYCHOLOGICAL EVALUATION AND WAIVER HEARING WERE NOT CONDUCTED IN MR. GILL'S CASE IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION

Dr. Cooke was not qualified to testify as an expert and render an opinion as to Mr. Gill's competency to waive his postconviction proceedings and discharge undersigned counsel. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(i)(4) requires in pertinent part that: "No fewer than two or more than three qualified experts shall be appointed to examine the prisoner if the judge concludes that there are reasonable grounds to believe the prisoner is not mentally competent for purposes of this rule." Cross-examination of Dr. Cooke by undersigned counsel starkly revealed his lack of expert knowledge in this area.

Mr. Doss: Dr. Cooke, you had testified that you had been qualified as an expert once in a waiver of counsel case at (sic) a trial case? Is that correct?

Dr. Cooke: Yes.

Mr. Doss: Have you ever been - - have you ever testified as an expert as to waiver of counsel in a post-conviction proceedings?

Dr. Cooke: I believe that one case was preconviction. Presentencing. (sic).

Mr. Doss: So as far as after - - in a postconviction setting, you've never testified as to waiver of counsel? Dr. Cooke: Not that I can recollect.

Mr. Doss: Okay. And out of the cases that you had described for The (sic) Court, how many of those were capital cases, where a sentence of death had - - either was an option, or had actually been imposed?

Dr. Cooke: How many cases have I been involved with, or how many cases have I testified in?

Mr. Doss: Testified in, in regards to being a capital case at any stage? Dr. Cooke: Probably less than five.

Mr. Doss: Were any of those in Florida?

Dr. Cooke: No.

Mr. Doss: And how would you characterize your familiarity with Florida post-conviction procedure in the legal sense?

Dr. Cooke: In the legal sense? Not too familiar.

Mr. Doss: Okay. So if I were to question you regarding the stages and the things that - - that a post-conviction Defendant would be facing, would you be able to describe those to me?

Dr. Cooke: No, I would not. PCT. 12-13

Further questioning revealed:

Mr. Doss: Were you able to discuss with him any specific legal procedure that he might - - that he might be waiving?

Dr. Cooke: No. He said that he was well-versed with proceedings up to - - through the trial stage, and that he had access to the law library in the prison. He said that he had not yet pursued references from the law library from the appellate stages of trials.

PCT. 20.

Subsequent questioning showed:

Mr. Doss: What step did you take to ascertain whether or not he had the ability to understand any specific legal concepts that relate to post-conviction capital procedures?

Dr. Cooke: Well, he said quite honestly that he was not well-versed. And I admitted to him and - - and to you that I am not either. I approached it from looking at his decision - - his reasoning for this - putting forward this motion, and then trying to determine if this decision was being influenced by the presence of mental illness. PCT. 23-24.

Clearly, Dr. Cooke does not possess the requisite knowledge required to be qualified as an expert and make a determination as to an individual's competence to make a valid waiver of postconviction counsel and discharge counsel. This lack of proper qualifications means that the trial court failed to require with the dictates Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851(i)(4) that, "No fewer than two or more than three qualified experts shall be appointed to examine the prisoner if the judge concludes that there are reasonable grounds to believe the prisoner is not mentally competent for purposes of this rule."

Dr. Cooke's lack of qualifications rendered any "expert opinion" propounded by Dr. Cooke as irrelevant for purposes of Rule 3.851(i), Fl.R.Cr.P. The question regarding the validity of an expert opinion is whether the witness has sufficient knowledge, training, or education on the *discrete* subject to render the opinion expressed. In Chavez v. State, 12 So.3d 199 (Fla. 2009), this Court held that it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to not qualify a lawyer as an expert to talk about the differences between Cuban and U.S. law and the impact these differences would have upon the voluntariness of a statement pursuant to <u>Miranda</u>. This Court stated:

A witness may be qualified as an expert through specialized knowledge, training, or education, which is not limited to academic, scientific, or technical knowledge. An expert witness may acquire this specialized knowledge through an occupation or business or frequent interaction with the subject matter. See Weese v. Pinellas County, 668 So.2d 221, 223 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)(citing Harvey v. State, 129 Fla. 289, 176 So. 439, 440 (1937) (witnesses were qualified as expert cattlemen and butchers based upon many years experience in such business and occupation and knowledge acquired thereby)). However, general knowledge is insufficient. The witness must possess specialized knowledge concerning the discrete subject related to the expert opinion to be presented. See Charles V. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 702.1, at 686-87 (2008 ed.).

Chavez at 205. The Chavez Court went on to further state,

"Although an expert may also be qualified through study or practical experience, rather than education or formal training, there must be sufficient development of specialized knowledge in the subject matter." <u>Id</u>.

In Mr. Gill's case, Dr. Cooke simply did not display a sufficient development of specialized knowledge in the legal and procedural issues that Mr. Gill was waiving to render a constitutionally valid opinion on such a life and death matter. The simple fact that Dr. Cooke has general knowledge is

insufficient. The expert witness must possess specialized knowledge concerning the discrete subject related to the expert opinion to be presented. The discrete knowledge here is whether Mr. Gill is cognizant and aware of what he is actually waiving and the ramifications thereof. See Jordan v. State, 694 So.2d 708, 716 (Fla. 1997) (An individual qualified as a psychologist was not qualified to testify to complex profile evidence in a capital case); Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., Inc. V. Ross, 660 So.2d 1109, 1111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (Expert in traffic control devices was not permitted to testify and render opinion regarding speed bumps. The Court stated: "He may be the world's foremost expert on traffic control devices, but it does not appear that he knows any more than we do about portable rubber speed bumps. We agree that it is not enough that the witness be qualified to propound opinions on a general subject; rather he must be qualified as an expert on the discrete subject on which he is asked to opine.").

Furthermore, neither Dr. Cooke nor Dr. Krop possessed relevant medical records and DOC records necessary to render a constitutionally valid opinion upon Mr. Gill's competence. Both doctors admitted that they did not possess any records from DOC to corroborate Mr. Gill's reports as to his behavior, disciplinary reports, and/or medical records. PCT. 17, 36-37. However, both doctors testified they knew of his arteriovenuous malformation and that he had received cranial surgery since the last time he was evaluated.

The problem is that without these records the doctors do not know of disciplinary reports and history, suicide attempts or not, attacks upon DOC personnel, psychiatric treatment, problems, or diagnoses. Additionally, there is no way the doctors can corroborate the information related by Mr. Gill and determine whether it is delusional or based in reality. Undersigned counsel objected to any determination without these records and moved to have the Court order the DOC records be released to the doctors. PCT. 43-4.

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