#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

D. TODD DOSS, ET AL.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC11-1553

Case in 8th Judicial Circuit: State of Fla. v. Ricardo Gill #63-2002-CF-0028-A

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR UNION COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

(i) appreciate the charges or allegations against the defendant;

(ii) appreciate the range and nature of possible penalties, if applicable, that may be imposed in the proceedings against the defendant;

(iii) understand the adversary nature of the legal process;

(iv) disclose to counsel facts pertinent to the proceedings at issue;

(v) manifest appropriate courtroom behavior;

(vi) testify relevantly; and

(B) any other factors deemed relevant by the experts.

Fla. R.Crim. P. 3.211(a)(2). Based on these reports, and testimony of the experts, the trial court found Gill competent to proceed.

Gill's determination of competency has not been challenged, and, based on the record of competency reviews, reports, and testimony presented in this case, we conclude that the trial court's finding of competency is supported by competent, substantial evidence and is sufficient to establish Gill's competence to enter a knowing, intelligent and voluntary plea. Nor has any abuse of discretion been shown in the trial court's ruling. *See Boyd v. State*, 910 So.2d 167, 187 (Fla. 2005) ('The competency determination must be based on all relative evidence, and the decision will stand absent an abuse of discretion.'). Accordingly, our review moves to examination of the plea colloquy that occurred prior to the trial court accepting Gill's guilty plea.

<u>Gill</u>, 14 So.3d at 961-62, then discussed details concerning the validity of Gill's plea and concluded:

Accordingly, because Gill was competent and was fully advised as required by rule 3.172 of all the rights he would be waiving and of the risk that he would be given the death penalty-and he confirmed that he understood all these rights and that his plea was freely, knowingly and intelligently given-we conclude that there was a sufficient basis for the plea and conviction, both in the factual basis supporting the plea and in the inquiry conducted by the trial court.

As listed in the Timeline, <u>supra</u>, after this Court's affirmance on direct appeal, the trial court appointed mental health experts to examine Gill (PCR1 158-59) due to Gill's desire to discharge postconviction counsel and dismiss postconviction proceedings and due to "competency ... [being] raised in accordance with the provisions of Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(i), and the Court having reasonable grounds to believe that the defendant may be incompetent and that experts should be appointed." (PCR1 158). The trial court subsequently noted: "These experts were not appointed due to any belief by this Court that Defendant was incompetent." (PCR2 206)

Pursuant to the trial court's order, Dr. Cooke (PCR1 170-177) and Dr. Krop (PCR1 178-82) filed their respective reports. Dr. Cooke's report indicated that he conducted extensive reviews of records, including multiple prior mental evaluations, but Dr. Cooke was not able to reach a final conclusion regarding competence because Gill refused to see the doctor. Dr. Kropp's report indicated that he had seen Gill numerous times in the past, related some prior history, discussed his recent observations of Gill, and concluded that Gill is competent.

At the beginning of the June 30, 2011, evidentiary hearing, Defendant Gill explained to the trial court that he refused to see Dr. Cooke because Dr. Cooke had someone with him when he tried to interview Gill at the

prison. Mr. Gill said that the trial court's order did not include someone accompanying Dr. Cooke while he interviewed Gill (PCT 4-6; <u>accord</u> PCT 59-60). Gill agreed to see Dr. Cooke during a recess if Dr. Cooke was alone. (PCT 5-6) Gill also agreed to see Dr. Krop again. (PCRT 5-6)

After about an hour-long court recess (<u>See</u> PCT 7), court reconvened and Dr. Cooke testified that he interviewed Gill during the recess and was able to provide an opinion on Gill's competency. (PCT 11) The trial court overruled postconviction counsel's objection to Dr. Cooke's qualifications "in this proceeding" (PCT 13-14), and Dr. Cooke explained his background and training in forensic and general psychiatry (PCT 7-13) and background for his opinion that Gill is competent (See PCT 14-27).

Dr. Krop also testified at the June 30, 2011, evidentiary hearing. (See PCT 28 et seq.) Dr. Krop indicated that he had seen Gill several times since 2000, including in May 2011 (PCT 29-30) and in the morning of the evidentiary hearing (PCT 31-32). He did no new testing of Gill in 2011 because he did not think it was necessary. (PCT 33-34) Dr. Krop opined that Gill is competent. (PCT 30-34) Dr. Krop indicated that he had informally spoken to some correctional officers, who indicated that Gill's behavior had "changed for the better over the last few years" (PCT 36). Dr. Krop said that DOC records would not affect his opinion of Gill's "current mental status" (PCT 36-37) Dr. Krop testified that Gill is rational and not delusional. (PCT 39-42) Dr. Krop indicated that --

this is **the most mature, most responsible**, the most logical, and the most intelligent, in terms of his means of communication that I've ever seen.

(PCT 37)

The trial court examined Mr. Gill at the evidentiary hearing. (PCT 45 et seq.) Mr. Gill confirmed his understanding of his legal situation and that he wished to discharge counsel. Gill explained why he did not wish to go forward with postconviction proceedings. (PCT 46-56) In response to questions from the prosecutor, Mr. Gill detailed his conviction, sentence, date of birth, education, and bilingual ability. (PCT 56-57) Gill discussed his motive for terminating postconviction proceedings and more about his understanding of the process. (PCT 57-64) Gill repeatedly said that he will not change his mind. (PCT 63-67)

By order dated July 12, 2011, Judge Cates found and reasoned that he appointed the two experts not because he had "any belief ... that Defendant was incompetent"; that the "Defendant's testimony supports the competence finding of the experts"; and that at the hearing, "Defendant continued to express his desire to end the post-conviction process and discharge counsel, even after being given the opportunity to revoke that request." As a result, the order dismissed postconviction proceedings and discharged Mr. Doss as Mr. Gill's postconviction counsel.

Mr. Doss appeals the trial court's July 12, 2011, order.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Gill has validly exercised his option to cease postconviction litigation. The trial court properly honored Mr. Gill's decision.

In previous proceedings, Mr. Gill was been examined, re-examined,... by mental health experts, and the trial court found Mr. Gill competent to

stand trial and to plead guilty, and this Court affirmed the trial court on direct appeal. The trial court, through the same judge who observed Mr. Gill in prior proceedings, has again observed Mr. Gill and again considered mental health experts' opinions. The trial court, again, merits affirmance.

#### ARGUMENT

#### OVERARCHING STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW.

Rulings of the trial court<sup>2</sup> are purportedly the subject of an appeal. Accordingly, this Court recently re-affirmed the "Tipsy Coachmen" principle that a "trial court's ruling should be upheld if there is any legal basis in the record which supports the judgment." <u>State v. Hankerson</u>, 65 So.3d 502, 505-507 (Fla. 2011). <u>See also Robertson v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 901 (Fla. 2002)(collected cases and analyzed the parameters of "right for any reason" principle of appellate review); <u>Butler v. Yusem</u>, 44 So.3d 102, 105 (Fla. 2010)("key to this ["Tipsy Coachman"] doctrine is whether the record before the trial court can support the alternative principle of law"); <u>Caso v.</u> <u>State</u>, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988)("... affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an alternative theory supports it"); <u>Jaworski v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)("we are obligated to entertain any basis to affirm the judgment under review, even one the appellee has failed to argue"); <u>Ochran v. U.S.</u>, 273 F.3d 1315, 1316 (11th Cir. 2001)("We conclude that summary judgment for the defendant was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Even in cases of fundamental error, the focus is on a trial court ruling, that is, one that should have been rendered.

appropriate, but for a different reason").

## CLAIM I: WAS THE TRIAL COURT UNREASONABLE IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT COMPETENT TO WAIVE COLLATERAL COUNSEL AND POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS? (IB 9-17, RESTATED)

#### A. Preservation.

The Initial Brief's issue statement (IB 9, 15) claims that United States Constitutional rights were violated due to insufficient psychological evaluations and an insufficient competency hearing. The Initial Brief does not demonstrate, and the State has not found, where in the record any constitutional claim was preserved below. (See, e.g., PCR2 197-203) Therefore, any constitutional claims were not preserved below. See, e.g., Harrell v. State, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005)(three components for "proper preservation"; "purpose of this rule is to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings'"); Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 98-99, 98 n. 6 (Fla. 1996) (two claims of unconstitutionality of jury instructions pertaining to death penalty proceedings); Hill v. State, 549 So.2d 179, 182 (Fla. 1989)("constitutional argument grounded on due process and Chambers was not presented to the trial court ... procedurally bars"); U.S. v. Taylor, 54 F.3d 967, 972 (1st Cir. 1995)("raise-or-waive rule prevents sandbagging").

The initial Brief also asserts that the trial court's competency order erred because it was based upon an erroneous ruling that Dr. Cooke was qualified as an expert (IB 9-13) and because Dr. Cooke and Dr. Krop did not have necessary medical and DOC records (IB 13-17). Mr. Doss did discuss

these matters with the trial court (<u>See</u> PCT 13-14, 68-70), but even though it appears that Mr. Doss had obtained records (<u>See</u> PCR2 199-200; <u>see also</u> PCT 71), he did not proffer them under seal, thereby failing to preserve that sub-claim. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Baker v. State</u>, 71 So.3d 802, 816 (Fla. 2011)("proffer is necessary to preserve a claim" concerning admissibility; collecting cases and explaining rationale for the proffer requirement).

#### B. The Standard of Appellate Review.

The standard of appellate review for a trial court's postconviction competency/discharge order is abuse of discretion: "an abuse of discretion standard applies when reviewing the trial court's determination regarding a capital defendant's competency to waive collateral counsel and proceedings," <u>Slawson v. State</u>, 796 So.2d 491, 502 (Fla. 2001). The standard of review for evidentiary rulings, to the degree that this Court decides that they were preserved, is also abuse of discretion. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Hojan v. State</u>, 3 So.3d 1204, 1210 (Fla. 2009)("This Court] review[s] a trial court's decision to admit evidence under an abuse of discretion standard"; <u>quoting Hudson v. State</u>, 992 So.2d 96, 107 (Fla. 2008).

"Discretion is abused only 'when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable [person] would take the view adopted by the trial court.'" <u>Ocha v. State</u>, 826 So.2d 956, 963 (Fla. 2002)(<u>quoting</u> <u>Trease v. State</u>, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053 n. 2 (Fla. 2000), <u>quoting Huff v.</u> State, 569 So.2d 1247, 1249 (Fla.1990))

#### C. The Trial Judge's Order and Rulings.

The trial court's order, at issue here, found and reasoned:

2. Rule 3.851(i) requires that the court hold a hearing on a defendant's motion that is filed under this rule. And, given postconviction counsel's assertion in his motion for extension of time that Defendant could be incompetent, this Court appointed two experts (Dr. Harry Krop and Dr. Brian Cooke) to evaluate Defendant prior to the evidentiary hearing on his motion. These experts were not appointed due to any belief by this Court that Defendant was incompetent.

[3]. Defendant's testimony at the evidentiary hearing supports the competency finding of the experts. See The State's Written Memorandum at 7-8.

[4]. During the *Durocher* hearing<sup>3</sup>, Defendant continued to express his desire to end the post-conviction process and discharge counsel, even after repeatedly being given the opportunity to revoke that request.

Therefore, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that:

I. The post-conviction proceedings in this case are hereby DISMISSED.

Defendant's Motion for Post-Conviction Relief was previously DISMISSED on February 21, 2011 [due to the omission of the Defendant's oath, dismissed without prejudice at that time, PCR1 133].

II. D. TODD DOSS, Esquire, is hereby DISCHARGED as post-conviction counsel in the above-captioned case.

(PCR2 206-207)

In the evidentiary hearing, the trial court also ruled that Dr. Cooke was qualified as an expert. (See PCT 13-14)

The trial court also refused to order the release of Mr. Gill's medical records:

<sup>3</sup> Durocher v. Singletary, 623 So.2d 482(Fla. 1993).

THE COURT: I'm not going to order it unless you [Mr. Gill] agree that it should be reviewed. I respect your revocation of your release. That's your responsibility. It's your right. And not to mention the fact that this -- we've been over your medical history a number of times, except for the operation you had at the State prison after I sentenced you.

(PCT 70) Mr. Gill re-confirmed that he did not want his records released.

(See PCT 70)

The State contends that Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court's findings and rulings are unreasonable as an abuse of discretion.

# D. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the trial court's competency finding was unreasonable.

# 1. The presumption of Mr. Gill's competency continues and actually has been buttressed.

The presumption the Mr. Gill is competent is buttressed in this case by substantial background.

In 2005, Mr. Gill's competency had been exhaustively litigated and, after reviewing several experts' evaluations, the trial court found Mr. Gill competent. (See R18 282-83; SR1 62; SR1 65-66; R19 362). Moreover, on direct appeal this Court expressly upheld this Court's finding of Mr. Gill as competent. See Gill v. State, 14 So.3d 946, 960 (Fla. 2009)("based on the record of competency reviews, reports, and testimony presented in this case, we conclude that the trial court's finding of competency is supported by competent, substantial evidence and is sufficient to establish Gill's competence to enter a knowing, intelligent and voluntary plea").

Therefore, at the evidentiary hearing on June 30, 2011, Mr. Gill was presumed competent. <u>See Durocher</u>, 623 So.2d at 484 ("A presumption of

competence attaches from a determination of competency to stand trial"); <u>Dessaure v. State</u>, 55 So.3d 478, 482-83 (Fla. 2010)("Once a defendant has been deemed competent, the presumption of competence continues throughout all subsequent proceedings"); <u>Slawson v. State</u>, 796 So.2d 491, 503 (Fla. 2001)("presumption of competency that attaches from trial"); <u>Sanchez-</u> <u>Velasco v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 224, 228 (Fla. 1997)("judge's determination of competency was also supported by the fact that Sanchez-Velasco arrived at the hearing with a presumption of competence attributable to the previous determinations of his competency"); <u>see also</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Rodriguez v. Pino</u>, 634 So.2d 681, 685 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994)("a person is presumed to be competent unless the evidence shows otherwise").

This Court's appellate holding elevates Gill's competency status to the law of the case unless and until a significant change of circumstances has been demonstrated. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Fla. Dep't of Transp. v. Juliano</u>, 801 So.2d 101, 106 (Fla. 2001) ("Under the law of the case doctrine, a trial court is bound to follow prior rulings of the appellate court as long as the facts on which such decision[s] are based continue to be the facts of the case"); <u>Henry v. State</u>, 649 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Fla. 1994)(under "'law of the case' doctrine[,] ... all points of law which have been previously adjudicated by a majority of this Court may be reconsidered only where a subsequent hearing or trial develops material changes in the evidence, or where exceptional circumstances exist whereby reliance upon the previous decision would result in manifest injustice"). There has been no showing of an exception to law of the case.

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